RECEIVED, 10/6/2013 13:48:35, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC13-46 (LC 2010-663-CFB)

MARVIN CANNON,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On direct appeal from final judgments and sentences, including a death sentence, rendered by the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Gadsden County, Florida, on November 15, 2012, in a capital, criminal case.

Baya Harrison Post Office Box 102 Monticello, FL 32344 Tel: 850-997-8469 Fx: 850-997-8460 FBN 099568 Attorney for Appellant Marvin Cannon

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the direct appeal of judgments and sentences, including a death sentence (R2/283-294), rendered on November 15, 2012, by the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Gadsden County, Florida, in a criminal case. The Hon. Jonathan Sjostrom, Circuit Judge presided and imposed the judgments and sentences.

Marvin Cannon was the defendant in the circuit court and is the appellant here. He will be referred to as "Mr. Cannon," "Defendant" or "Appellant." The State of Florida was the plaintiff in the circuit court and is the appellee here. It will be referred to as "the State."

The record on appeal is in seventeen volumes that are not numbered consecutively in all respects. Instead, they are sometimes referenced by various parts of the trial. That is:

There are four volumes (1-4) of the transcripts of the voir dire (jury selection) proceedings. They are numbered separately from the transcripts of the remaining parts of the trial. They will be referenced by the letter "V" followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

There are three volumes (1-3) of pleadings and orders. They are also numbered separately from the other volumes. They will be referenced by the letter "R" followed by an appropriate volume and page number. There are seven volumes of transcripts of the guilt/innocence phase of the trial and an eighth volume that contains the transcript of the penalty phase. They begin with volume 1 and go through volume 8. Each volume will be referenced by the letter "T" followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

There is one volume marked "Spencer Hearing." It will be referred to by the word "Spencer" followed by an appropriate page number.

Finally, there is one volume marked "Sentencing." It will be referred to by the word "Sentencing" followed by an appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Nature of the Case:

This is the direct appeal of final judgments and sentences, including a death sentence (R2/283-294), rendered on November 15, 2012, by the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit, in and for Gadsden County, Florida, in a criminal, first-degree murder case. The Hon. Jonathan Sjostrom, Circuit Judge, presided and imposed the judgments and sentences, including the death sentence.

Jurisdiction:

This is a first time direct appeal of judgments and sentences, including a death sentence, rendered in a first-degree murder case. This Court therefore has jurisdiction to review them. Art. V §3(b), Fla. Const.; §921.141(4), Fla. Stat. (2010).

Course of the Proceedings:

On August 19, 2013, Mr. Cannon was indicted by a Gadsden County, Florida, grand jury for the offense of first-degree murder (Count I), attempted first-degree murder (Count II), armed robbery with a weapon (Count III), attempted armed robbery with a weapon (Count IV), and trespass of a conveyance (labeled arson of a vehicle in Sentencing Order) (Count IV). (RII/297) The victim of the homicide was Zachariah Morgan. The offense date was December 24, 2010. (R8/895)

Mr. Cannon was represented by Manuel Garcia, Esq., and Clyde M. Taylor, Jr., Esq. The State of Florida was represented by Richard Combs, Esq., and James Bevelle, Esq. The Hon. Jonathan Sjostrom, Circuit Judge, presided at all stages of the proceedings.

The selection of a 12-person jury began on October 1, 2012, and concluded on October 2, 2012. (*See* V 1-4) The guilt/innocence phase of the jury trial commended on October 3, 2012 and concluded on October 8, 2012. After the state presented its evidence and rested, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal as to all counts of the Indictment. (R5/603-08) That motion was denied. (R5/613)

The defense called one witness, Mr. Johnny Cannon. (R5/619-34)

The trial court instructed the jury on the law to consider in the context of reaching a verdict as to all counts. (R6/691-727) Counsel for the parties then made their closing arguments. (R6/727-797) The trial court then instructed the jury further on the rules of deliberation. (R6/797-800)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all counts on October 8, 2013. (R2/190-194, 297; R6/813-15)

A penalty phase jury trial was held on October 10, 2012, at the conclusion of which the jury recommended that Mr. Cannon be sentenced to death as to Count I, first-degree murder, by a vote of 9-3. (R2/210)

A *Spencer* hearing was held on November 2, 2012. (Spencer/3-89)

Disposition in the Lower Tribunal:

On November 15, 2013, the court imposed sentence as follows:

Count I, first-degree murder -- death.

Count II, attempted first-degree murder -- life in prison.

Count III, robbery with a deadly weapon -- 30 years in prison.

Count IV, attempted robbery with a deadly weapon -- 15 years in prison.

Count V, arson of a vehicle -- 30 years in prison.

(Sentencing/3-10). On December 7, 2012, Cannon filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. (R2/350)

Statement of the Facts:

The Guilt-Innocence Phase of the Trial

The evidence presented at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial is extensive but fairly described in materiality in the trial court's Sentencing Order of November 15, 2012. (R2/297-346). The facts as set forth in the sentencing order are as follows: The Defendant, Marvin Cannon, had sold deer corn to Mr. Zachariah Morgan in the fall of 2010. Mr. Morgan then paid Mr. Cannon for more deer corn but Mr. Cannon did not deliver it. Thus, on or about December 24, 2010, Mr. Morgan, after speaking by telephone with Mr. Cannon and accompanied by his (Mr. Morgan's) friend, Sean Neel, made plans to meet up with Mr. Cannon and secure the pre-purchased corn. (R2/298-9).

According to Mr. Neel, Mr. Cannon directed them to a meeting place in Greensboro, Florida, where they expected to pick up the corn. Mr. Morgan was driving his Ford pickup truck and hauling a flatbed trailer. Mr. Neel recognized Mr. Cannon once they met since he resembled his (Mr. Cannon's) father. Mr. Cannon was accompanied by a fourth person by the name of Antone McMillian. Mr. Morgan did not want Mr. McMillian to ride with them but Mr. Cannon convinced him to allow him to come along. Mr. Cannon then directed Mr. Morgan, who was driving, onto I-10 and eventually onto Flat Creek Road in Gadsden County. Mr. Neel was in the front passenger seat. Mr. Cannon and Mr. McMillian were in the rear passenger seats. (R2/298-9)

Mr. Cannon, who was seated in the rear passenger seat, directed Mr. Morgan to make a U-turn, first to turn off of Flat Creek Road and then to drive down what was described as a pig trail. They eventually came to a

clearing with a shed or dilapidated garage. Both Mr. Neel and Mr. Morgan noticed that Mr. Cannon appeared to be fumbling in his jacket and then faking a cell phone call. Mr. McMillian, according to Mr. Neel, was just sitting there in the rear driver's seat. (R2/300)

Mr. Neel testified that he was suddenly stabbed twice in the neck by Mr. Cannon. Mr. Morgan looked at Mr. Cannon and began hollering in horror. Mr. Neel was positive that only Mr. Cannon stabbed him. (R2/300).

Mr. Morgan floored the accelerator and the truck began swerving as Mr. Neel grabbed a knife. Mr. Neel was thrown from the truck and ran down the pig trail to get help for his friend, convinced that he was going to be killed. He came upon the Renfro family and screamed for help, telling them that someone was killing his friend. A Renfro family member armed himself and located Mr. McMillian near a pond. He held Mr. McMillian there until law enforcement arrived. (R2/301)

City of Gretna Police Officer Michael Lawrence arrived on the scene, secured Mr. McMillian and then found Mr. Morgan dead on the ground, covered in blood from what later turned out to be some thirty stab wounds. Some of the contents of Mr. Morgan's pockets were scattered about including a bank receipt showing a withdrawal from his bank account in the amount of \$400.00 the previous day. As other officers arrived, they found

smoke coming from Mr. Morgan's truck. (R2/301) By the time the fire could be extinguished, the passenger compartment was badly damaged.

Mr. McMillian overheard the police talking on the radio about a knife and told the officer transporting him that he left the knife they were looking for in a patrol car. Police recovered the knife from the patrol car where McMillian told them it would be. A piece of the knife blade was broken off, and was later found to match a metal fragment recovered from Mr. Morgan's skull by the medical examiner during the autopsy. (R2/302)

The sheriff's canine team began its search for Mr. Cannon across I-10, through woods and swamps and eventually reached a convenience store near the exit ramp. As they did so, they found Mr. Morgan's wallet together with his credit cards and other items. Witnesses identified Appellant on the convenience store's security camera video. Two days later, Mr. Cannon was arrested at a motel in Gadsden County. He was wearing the same shirt shown on the video. That shirt was tested by FDLE and traces of Mr. Morgan's blood and DNA were found on it. (R2/302-3)

The medical examiner determined that Mr. Morgan had been stabbed some 30 times in the forehead, face, neck, torso, hands and arms, noting that death would not have been instantaneous. Death would have taken "maybe minutes." (R2/303)

The state rested and a defense motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (R5/603-13) Mr. Cannon exercised his right not to testify. (R5/615) The defense called Johnny Cannon as its sole witness. The jury was instructed on the law and closing arguments were made. (R6/691-797) After deliberation, the jury returned finding Mr. Cannon guilty on all counts as set forth in the Indictment. (R6/813-15)

The Penalty Phase

The transcript of the penalty phase of the trial is found in Volume Eight of the record on appeal. It is referred to as "R8" followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

At the beginning of the penalty phase proceedings held on October 10, 2012, defense counsel moved to strike the word "advisory" from the jury verdict form. That motion was denied. (T8/877) However, the Court indicated that it would instruct the jury on the importance of its recommendation including language that the jurors should assume their recommendation would be the sentence imposed. (T8/878-9) The Court and the parties also discussed the information that would be provided regarding co-defendant McMillian having been deemed legally incompetent and the legal effect of mental incompetence in terms of being tried for the crimes committed in the case at bar. (T8/879-80)

Mr. Combs then gave an opening statement. He indicated that he was going to rely primarily on evidence already introduced during the guiltinnocence phase to prove the existence of the following aggravating factors: the homicide was committed during the course of robbery; the homicide was carried out in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner ("CCP"); the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel ("HAC"); that Mr. Cannon had previously been convicted of a violent felony; that at the time of the murder, Mr. Cannon was previously convicted of a felony and under supervision by the Office of Probation and Parole; and the murder was committed for financial gain. (T/891-5)

Mr. Taylor then spoke on behalf of Mr. Cannon. He emphasized Mr. Cannon's youth and willingness to help out the family at their farm, and that the alternative to the death penalty would be life in prison without the possibility of parole. (R8/896-7) He added that co-defendant McMillian had been determined to be mentally retarded and therefore would not face the death penalty. (R8/898) He emphasized that the aggravating factors raised by the state had to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (T8/899)

Ms. Nekia Germany, a Correctional Probation Senior Officer, (T8/900), testified that Mr. Cannon started his supervised release after being released from prison on October 4, 2009 in Leon County Circuit Court Case No. 2004-CF-3842. (T8/901-02).

The State next produced victim impact statements from three witnesses. The first victim impact witness was Ms. Aliesha Morgan, the youngest daughter of the victim, Zachariah Morgan. (T8/903-04). She read a prepared statement. (T8/904) She said that Zachariah was married to Aliesha's mother, Lena Morgan, until his death. (T8/904) He fathered four children and had two grandchildren. (R8/905) He worked at Florida State Hospital for 30 years and had his own business as a painter. (T8/905). Zachariah's favorite pastime was fishing. (T8/905). Zachariah taught his children the value of spirituality and financial responsibility. (T8/906)

The second victim impact witness was Isaiah Morgan, the brother of the victim. (R8/908) Isaiah was a minister at the Greater United Church of Christ Written In Heaven Corporation. (R8/908) Zachariah was a deacon in the same church. (T8/908) Zachariah painted the church and many houses for Habitat for Humanity as well as the house of Isaiah's neighbor. (T8/909) Zachariah sometimes cooked fish for the Jerusalem Mount Olive Community Association, a community organization. (T8/910)

The third victim impact witness was Sean Neel, Zachariah's coworker. (T8/911-12) Neel and Zachariah enjoyed fishing together. (T8/912) Neel allowed Zachariah to take Neel's young son fishing. (T8/912). Neel traveled with him five times in one year to fishing tournaments. (T8/915).

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial on the basis of Aliesha crying during her testimony and Isaiah wearing his pastor's collar and telling the jury that his family believes in God and wants justice. (T8/918) The court stated that Aliesha's tone was appropriate and that Isaiah's statement did not warrant a mistrial. (T8/921) The court instructed the jury to disregard Isaiah's statement that his family believed in God and wanted justice to be served. (T8/924) The court also re-read an instruction to not consider the victim impact statements as aggravating circumstances. (R8/924).

Defense counsel then called Johnny Cannon, the Defendant's father. (T8/924-31) The Defendant regularly worked with Johnny on Johnny's farm in 2009 and 2010. (T8/931) The Defendant was a dependable worker and a valuable member of Johnny's farming team. (T8/931-32) When the Defendant was working with Johnny, he would help other family members financially. (R8/933) When the Defendant was a teenager, he received government loans for agricultural purposes. (T8/934) The Defendant dropped out of school in the ninth or tenth grade and was a good farmer up through Christmas of 2010. (T8/936)

Defense Counsel next called Dora Cannon, Johnny Cannon's wife and the Defendant's mother. (T8/939-40) Growing up, the Defendant helped his father in the farming business. (T8/942) He liked to babysit his nieces and nephews. (T8/942) When the Defendant was growing up, Dora did not have any concerns about leaving any infants in his care. (T8/947)

The court engaged Mr. Cannon in a right to silence colloquy outside the presence of the jury, and the Defendant stated that he decided to remain silent. (T8/950)

Defense counsel objected to the giving of the cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) jury instruction on the ground that the instruction was too vague and violated the Defendant's Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights. (T8/955) The court overruled the objection. (T8//955)

A charge conference followed. (T8/951-67) The Court then instructed the jury on the law applicable to the penalty phase. (T8/967-82)

Mr. Combs made his closing argument for the State. (T8/982-97) Mr. Taylor made his closing argument for the Defendant. (T8/997-1006) The Court dismissed the jury to deliberate. (T8/1006) The jury returned, advising the Court that it recommended the death sentence as to Count I of the Indictment by a vote of 9-3. (R2/210)

The Spencer¹ Hearing

At the beginning of the Spencer hearing, Mr. Combs discussed the pre-sentence report ("the PSR"), noting that Mr. Cannon qualified as a prison release reoffender. (Spencer/4) Defense counsel objected to the parts of the PSR that includes a host of statements from co-defendant McMillian. (Spencer 5) The state did not object and the Court noted that it would not consider those statements. (Spencer/5) A sentencing guidelines score sheet was offered without objection concerning the counts other than Count I.

Mr. Combs then offered victim impact testimony. Mrs. Leena Morgan is the wife of Zachariah Morgan. (Spencer/7) She testified that her husband was a man of integrity. (Spencer/8) He would help recently released inmates get jobs. (Spencer/8) Their children no longer have a father. (SH 8) The sheriff's office was very kind to her. (Spencer/8).

Daisy Morgan Hadley was Mr. Morgan's sister. (Spencer/9) She testified that he was a man of his word and liked by all races. (Spencer/10) He was not a man of prejudice. (Spencer/11) Isaiah Morgan was the deceased's brother. He missed his brother who was kind to everyone. They had many good times together. (Spencer/12) His brother's loss seemed to

Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 1993).

have just happened that day although it had been two years since his death. Mr. Morgan worked in the church and helped everyone. (Spencer/13-14)

Joseph Morgan is the brother of the deceased. (Spencer/15) He wanted to speak for his son who thought highly of the deceased. Joseph was very close to his brother as they did many things together, and he recited an incident when a perfect stranger came up to him and noted his respect for Mr. Morgan. (Spencer/16-17) His brother cannot be replaced. (Spencer/19)

Derrick Morgan was one of the deceased's sons. (Spencer/20) His father believed in justice and was a fair man. (SH 20) He also believed in the death penalty. (Spencer/21)

Counsel for the parties then presented certain arguments and evidence.

The State argued that the Court could consider statutory aggravating circumstances not presented to the jury based upon the decision in *Hoffman v. State*, 474 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985) (Spencer/22) The aggravator he asked the Court to consider was that the homicide was committed to avoid arrest as set forth in Section 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes. (Spencer/22-25) Mr. Combs pointed out that the Defendant knew the victim and the victim knew him. (Spencer/22) Therefore the witness elimination aggravator should

apply. The defense objected. (Spencer/25, 26) The Court said that it would take the matter under advisement. $(Spencer/26)^2$

The defense introduced Mr. Cannon's school records as Ex. 1. and a written statement from Mr. Cannon's friend, Ms. Latoya James, as Ex. 2. (Spencer/30-1) Counsel asked the Court to make the entire court file regarding Mr. McMillian a part of the file in the case at bar. The state did not object (SH 27-8) and the Court granted the request. (Spencer/28-30)

The defense then presented the testimony of Dr. Terry Leland, a licensed psychologist. Dr. Leland interviewed Mr. Cannon seven or eight times. (Spencer/36) He found M. Cannon to have an IQ of about 77, which put him in the range between low average and mental retardation. (S/ 37) This put Mr. Cannon into the low end of the low average range of intelligence. (Spencer/ 39) He felt that Mr. Cannon suffered from a depressive disorder. (Spencer/ 43) He suffered from alcohol abuse before his incarceration. (Spencer/ 44) Mr. Cannon's sister was serving life in prison for murder and a half brother had a prior murder conviction. (Spencer/48) He noted that he felt Mr. Cannon had narcissistic traits. (Spencer/49) Dr. Leland said that Mr. Cannon doesn't "feel the full range of

The trial court eventually rejected this aggravator, affording it no weight. (R2/329).

things." (Spencer/50) He has a personality disorder that compelled him to go to trial instead of taking a plea that would avoid the death penalty. (Spencer/51-3) Had he not suffered from this personality disorder, he would have had the good sense to take the plea offer. (Spencer/53)

On cross-examination, Dr. Leland said that he did not know why he had not been asked by defense counsel to prepare a report of his examination and testing of Mr. Cannon. (Spencer/55) He first had contact with Mr. Cannon in March of 2012. (Spencer/55) He was given an arrest report and spoke with the defense team and its investigator. (Spencer/55) He reviewed DOC files, which included some psychological records. (Spencer/56) He was not sure if he saw any IQ test results. (Spencer/56) Cannon was not classified as ESE. (Spencer/57)

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