TGEGKXGF.'3413514235'37⊲: 5; .'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq.'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARVIN CANNON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC13-46

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR GADSDEN COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

PATRICK M. DELANEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 85824

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 Primary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com Secondary E-Mail: Patrick.Delaney@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4583 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

d. Harmless Error

"When this Court strikes an aggravating factor on appeal, 'the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the sentence." *Cole v. State*, 36 So. 3d 597, 609 (Fla. 2010) (quoting *Williams v. State*, 967 So. 2d 735, 765 (Fla. 2007)). In the present case, the trial court found the aggravator of prior violent felony based on the armed carjacking and the contemporaneous attempted murder; however, only assigned weight to the felony carjacking. If this court were to strike the aggravator for carjacking, then the trial court could assign weight on the contemporaneous attempted murder. In other words, the aggravator of prior violent felony would still apply based on the attempted murder. Therefore, any error would be harmless given Appellant's contemporaneous conviction for attempted first degree murder of Sean Neel.

II. THE HAC AGGRAVATOR WAS PROPERLY PROVEN AND APPLIED BASED ON THE ACTIONS OF APPELLANT.

Appellant avers the evidence was insufficient to apply the aggravating circumstance of Heinous, Atrocious, and Cruel because the State failed to prove Appellant actually stabbed Mr. Morgan. (IB/28). Appellant basis this argument on the premise that the evidence only suggests the co-defendant, McMillian, stabbed Mr. Morgan. (IB/28). The evidence though is that Appellant stabbed the victims.

a. Standard of Review

"A trial court's ruling on an aggravating circumstance is a mixed question of law and fact and will be sustained on review as long as the court applied the right rule of law and its ruling is supported by competent substantial evidence in the record." *Ford v. State*, 802 So. 2d 1121, 1133 (Fla. 2001).

b. Competent Evidence to find Heinous, Atrocious, and Cruel Aggravator

"The HAC aggravator may be applied to torturous murders where the killer was utterly indifferent to the suffering of another." *Hall v. State*, 87 So. 3d 667, 672 (Fla. 2102). In addition, this court "has repeatedly upheld the HAC aggravating circumstance in cases where the victim has been viciously stabbed numerous times." *Perez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 347, 379 (Fla. 2005); *see, e.g., Guzman v. State*, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 – 60 (Fla. 1998); *Mahn v. State*, 714 So. 2d 391, 399 (Fla. 1998); *Rolling v. State*, 695 So. 2d 278, 296 (Fla. 1997). "The victim's mental

state may be evaluated for purposes of such determination in accordance with a common-sense inference from the circumstances." *Hall*, 87 So. 3d at 672 (quoting *Swafford v. State*, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988).

The evidence presented at trial established that Mr. Morgan sustained no fewer than 30 major stab wounds to his head, face, neck, arms, and back. (T4/392, 396 – 399). "The facial wounds travelled completely through Mr. Morgan's cheeks and mouth." (R2/322). Separate wounds to Mr. Morgan's neck, chest, and back could have been fatal individually. (T4/397, 398 – 399, 426 – 427). A metal piece which later matched a recovered knife was removed from Mr. Morgan's head. (R2/324). Mr. Morgan first lost blood into his chest, both lungs were injured, and he was also bleeding from the neck. (T4/427). When Mr. Morgan was not able to get enough blood flow to his brain he would eventually lose consciousness and "go on to die from there." (T4/427). The medical examiner testified that Mr. Morgan could have been alive for "a couple minutes." (T4/427).

In addition, evidence of defensive wounds was found on each of Mr. Morgan's hands as well as what was consistent with a bite mark on Mr. Morgan's left hand. (R2/322). Furthermore, the medical examiner testified that because of the extent of injuries and amount of blood on Mr. Morgan's clothing, it appeared he was upright for part of the attack. (T4/412; R2/322). Finally, Mr. Neel testified that before he dove out of the truck, Mr. Neel heard "a scared to death holler" from Mr.

Morgan. (R2/322).

The evidence clearly "demonstrates that Mr. Morgan was aware of his mortal peril, experienced substantial pain and terror and fought for his life" (R2/322). In finding the HAC aggravator the trial court stated "the evidence supports the conclusion that Mr. Cannon was indifferent to the pain his victims absorbed and acted to subdue the victims as quickly and quietly as possible, consistent with the secluded, rural, wooded location he chose." (R2/322). Therefore, competent, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that HAC applied to the murder of Mr. Morgan.

c. Application of HAC to Appellant

Appellant claims the HAC aggravator was applied vicariously through the conduct and actions of McMillian, his co-defendant. (IB/29). In doing so, Appellant plainly states his belief that based on the evidence presented at trial, McMillian is responsible for the murder of Mr. Morgan. (IB/29).

This court has declined to vicariously apply the HAC aggravator in cases where the evidence showed the defendant neither directed nor knew how the murder would be accomplished. *Perez v. State*, 919 So. 2d 347, 381(Fla. 2005); *Omelus v. State*, 584 So. 2d 563, 566 – 568 (Fla. 1991). Nevertheless, HAC has been upheld "to defendants who did not directly cause the victim's death where the defendant was particularly physically involved in the events leading up to the victim's

murder." Cole v. State, 36 So. 3d 597, 608 (Fla. 2010) (it should be specifically noted that in *Cole* this Court denied the application of HAC because Cole was not aware of how the victims were ultimately killed); but see, e.g., Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001) (upholding the HAC aggravator even though the evidence showed the co-defendant "actually fired the fatal shot, shot two other restaurant employees, and stabbed the assistant manager in the back after is gun misfired); Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 229 (Fla. 1998) ("holding that application of HAC to nontriggerman defendant was proper where defendant removed victim from convenience store at gunpoint, placed victim in car's backseat with codefendant, heard victim plead for her life during the fifteen-to-eighteen minute ride to isolated area, removed victim from car, and turned victim over to codefendant who killed victim"); Copeland v. State, 457 So. 2d 1012, 1015 (Fla. 1984) ("holding that application of HAC to nontriggerman defendant was proper where defendant confronted victim at gunpoint, kidnapped victim, and raped victim before the codefendant murdered the victim"). "The [Florida Supreme Court] also made plain in Perez that the defendant's presence at the scene of the murder is not by itself enough to render the defendant accountable for a codefendant's cruelty." (R2/323).

Appellant was convicted of first degree murder with both premeditation and felony murder present. (T6/814; R2/190). The trial court's application of HAC

34

was specifically due to the actions of Appellant, and was in no way reflective of the presumed actions of McMillian. (R2/325). Appellant attempts to re-litigate an issue of guilt by asserting that "the greater weight of the evidence adduced at trial shows that co-defendant Antone McMillian was the one who delivered the fatal stabbing blows to the victim." (IB/29).

While there is evidence suggesting McMillian stabbed Mr. Morgan, "the evidence did not establish conclusively whether Marvin Cannon alone, Antone McMillian alone, or both Marvin Cannon and Antone McMillian together stabbed Mr. Morgan." (R2/324). The medical examiner was not able to determine the sequence of the stabbing, and testified that the mortal wounds inflicted to Mr. Morgan were the stabs to his chest, back, and neck, not his head where the piece of knife was found during autopsy. (T4/410, 434 - 438). In addition, blood stains matching Mr. Morgan's DNA were found on the shirt Appellant was wearing the night of the murder. (T5/583; R2/303, 325).

In applying HAC, the trial court looked at the sequence of events leading up to the fatal stabbing of Mr. Morgan. First, "there is no testimony in the record that any person saw Mr. McMillian commit any act of violence." (R2/325). Second, "Mr. Cannon committed the first act of violence by stabbing Mr. Neel. The manner of the murder of Mr. Morgan was identical to the ambush stabbing of Mr. Neel." (R2/325). Third, "[t]he timing of the stabbing of Mr. Neel and the murder of Mr. Morgan was essentially instantaneous." (R2/325). And finally, "Mr. Cannon's conduct after the murder and attempted murder is consistent with his intent that the crimes occur and is equally inconsistent with the defense's argument \dots ." (R2/325).

The trial court considered the possibility that McMillian alone murdered Mr. Morgan and based its decision to apply HAC on the actions of Appellant. "Mr. Cannon's contemporaneous stabbing of Mr. Neel permits application of the HAC aggravator for the near simultaneous stabbing of Mr. Morgan even assuming Mr. McMillian alone actually stabbed Mr. Morgan." (R2/325). It was Appellant who had the motive to murder Mr. Morgan, not McMillian. Appellant set the meeting place, and directed Mr. Morgan to the secluded farm used by his father, not McMillian. Appellant brought the murder weapon and used it on Mr. Neel just moments before the murder of Mr. Morgan, not McMillian. Appellant took Mr. Morgan's wallet following the murder, not McMillian. Appellant fled the crime scene and hid for two days in a motel, not McMillian. The only visible acts of violence were attributed to Appellant, not McMillian. As such, this court should affirm the application of HAC to Appellant's conviction for first degree murder.

III. THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR IN MODIFYING THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTEMPTED MANSLAUGHTER VOLUNTARY WAS HARMLESS BECAUSE **APPELLANT** WAS CONVICTED OF TWO **STEPS** Α CRIME **REMOVED FROM THE ERROR.**

Appellant claims he was denied a fair trial when the trial court sua sponte modified the jury instructions for Attempted Voluntary Manslaughter which was included as a necessary lesser included offense of Count II – attempted first degree murder. (IB/37). This issue, however, is not preserved and not fundamental error. Moreover, the error in the instruction for attempted voluntary manslaughter did not affect the jury's verdict for attempted first degree murder.

a. Standard of Review

"Instructions given by a trial court during deliberations are subject to the abuse of discretion standard of review." *Armstrong v. State*, 73 So. 3d 155, 173 (Fla. 2011). "Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court." *Armstrong*, 73 So. 3d at 173 (quoting *White v. State*, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002)). However, "when a trial court fails to properly instruct on a crime two or more degrees removed from the crime for which defendant is convicted, the error is not per se reversible, but instead is subject to a harmless error analysis." *State v. Montgomery*, 39 So. 2d 252, 259 (Fla. 2010).

b. Preservation

This Court has "held repeatedly that jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule and, 'absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred." *Daniels v. State*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S380 (2013) (quoting *Garzon v. State*, 980 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 2008)). In the present case there was no objection to the jury instructions as given. Appellant concedes the error was to an instruction for a lesser offense which is two-steps removed from the crime for which he was convicted. (IB/40) As such, this claim should be dismissed as being unpreserved for direct appellate review.

c. Jury Instructions for Attempted Voluntary Manslaughter

Should this Court review the jury instructions of attempted voluntary manslaughter the error is likely to be deemed harmless. Following the State's closing argument the court attempted to correct what it saw as a potential *Montgomery*⁵ error by modifying the jury instructions for attempted voluntary manslaughter. The trial court amended Standard Instruction 6.6 as follows:

It is not an attempt to commit manslaughter if the defendant abandoned the attempt to commit the offense or otherwise prevented its commission under circumstances indicating a complete and voluntary renunciation of his criminal purpose. . . . In order to convict of attempted manslaughter by act, it is not necessary for the state to

⁵ State v. Montgomery, 39 So. 3d 252 (Fla. 2010).

prove the defendant had an intent to cause death; only an intent to commit an act that was not merely negligent, justified or excusable, *and which caused death*.

(T6/767 - 768) (emphasis added). This instruction was given as part of a category one lesser included offence to Count II – attempted first degree murder of Sean Neel. (T6/699 - 705; R1/172 - 173). By amending the jury instruction the trial court mistakenly required the jury to find Mr. Neel had died as a result of Appellant's actions in order to find Appellant guilty of the lesser offense of attempted voluntary manslaughter. This of course was an impossibility given that Mr. Neel testified during trial as to the facts and circumstances of the attack by Appellant. (T1/85 - 140).

Appellant is correct in pointing out that proof of death is not an element of attempted voluntary manslaughter, and therefore the instructions given to the jury could have been misleading. (IB/38). Appellant contends the error was harmful and affected the jury's verdict because there was evidence supporting the justifiable or excusable homicide of Mr. Neel. (IB/40). This claim is based on Mr. Neel's testimony concerning *when and if* he picked up a knife following the unprovoked attack from Appellant. (IB/40). Appellant maintains that the attack on Mr. Neel was in self defense *if* Mr. Neel picked up a knife prior to being stabbed by Appellant, thereby justifying the attack on Mr. Neel. (IB/41).

There is no evidence to suggest that in any way imaginable the attack on Mr.

Neel could be considered justified or excusable. Mr. Neel's testimony at trial was that without provocation Appellant stabbed him twice in the neck. (T1/115; R2/300). It was not until Mr. Neel was stabbed in the neck, and just before being ejected from the truck, he instinctually grabbed the knife that was sitting in the center console. (R/300). In order to conclude the error was harmful to Appellant, this Court would be forced to speculate as to what could have, or what might have happened and ignore the testimony and evidence presented at trial.

Attempted voluntary manslaughter is two steps removed from attempted first degree murder and as such is subject to review for harmless error. (IB/40; *Daniels*, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S380 (Fla. 2013). It is unlikely the error in the instruction for attempted voluntary manslaughter affected the jury's verdict. The error complained of required the jury to conclude that Appellant's actions actually caused the death of Mr. Neel. Appellant was charged with attempted first degree murder. (R1/42 – 44). Instructions on both category one lesser included offenses of attempted second degree murder, and attempted voluntary manslaughter were given, with the obvious error occurring in the latter instruction. (T6/ 699 – 705; 767 – 768). Ultimately, Appellant was convicted as charged of attempted first degree murder. (R2/190 – 194).

Had Appellant been convicted of Attempted Second Degree Murder, it would be appropriate to assume the error in the manslaughter instruction affected the jury's verdict. See Daniels v. State, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S380 (Fla. 2013); Pena v. State, 901 So. 2d 781, 787 (Fla. 2005). The additional and erroneous element could be perceived to confuse the jury by requiring proof of an additional element for a lesser offense. However, since the jury convicted Appellant as charged, it is doubtful the error in the manslaughter instruction had any effect since they still had the ability to convict Appellant of attempted second degree murder, but instead found proof supporting the crime as charged. (R2/190 – 194). Therefore, this court should find the error committed by the trial court was harmless and did not affect the jury verdict.

IV. THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A CONVCTION FOR COUNT III – ROBBERY OF ZACHARIAH MORGAN, BECAUSE VALUE IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF ROBBERY.

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